# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI DOCKET NUMBER 2008-CA-01253 MELISSA ANN BETTS APPELLANT VS. CHALMUS BARRY MASSEY APPELLEE BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Neshoba County No. 2005-323

The State of Mississippi

### **COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLEE:**

JOSEPH A. KIERONSKI, JR., WILLIAM B. JACOB DANIEL P. SELF, JR. SELF, JACOB & KIERONSKI, LLP Post Office Box 949 Meridian, Mississippi 39302-0949 601/693-6994

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**MELISSA ANN BETTS** 

APPELLANT

VS.

DOCKET NUMBER 2008-CA-01253

### CHALMUS BARRY MASSEY

**APPELLEE** 

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED AN ERROR IN FINDING A MATERIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES AFFECTING THE MINOR CHILD TO CHANGE CUSTODY.

ISSUE TWO: WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED AN ERROR IN WEIGHING THE ALBRIGHT FACTOR THE CHANGE CUSTODY

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The case pending before the Court concerns the modification of custody of Benjamin Lee Massey [hereinafter Ben], a four (4) year old, born September 8, 2004, from his mother Melissa Ann Betts [hereinafter Melissa] to his father, Chalmus Barry Massey [hereinafter Barry].

Barry and Melissa were not married when Ben was born and by a December 9, 2005 Agreed Judgment of Paternity and an Order of Child Support and Other Relief they were granted joint legal custody of Ben with Melissa having physical custody.

On April 1, 2008, Melissa filed her Complaint to Cite Barry for contempt and other relief which included a modification of custody because Barry would not return Ben at the end of his visitation period. Barry thereafter, on April 11, 2008, filed his Motion for Temporary Custody and Motion for Appointment of Guardian Ad Litem and subsequently on April 24, 2008 he filed his Answer and Defenses to Complaint to Cite Respondent for Contempt and Other Relief and Counter-Complaint for Custody and Child Support.

Attorney D. Joseph Kilgore was appointed as Ben's Guardian Ad Litem and he filed his Preliminary Report of Guardian Ad Litem on June 1, 2008. This action was tried beginning June 1, 2008. After a two day trial wherein eleven (11) witnesses were called, the Court filed its opinion on June 11, 2008 and entered a Final Judgment Modifying Prior Agreed Judgment for Custody, Support and Visitation on July 2, 2008 changing custody of Ben from Melissa to Barry and ordering Melissa to pay child support in the amount of \$250.00 per month.

Melissa being aggrieved with the modification of custody timely filed her appeal.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A Chancellor's findings will not be disturbed on appeal when supported by substantial evidence unless the Chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous standard has applied" *Powell v. Powell*, 976 So.2d 358, 361 (¶10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing)

### DISCUSSION

ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED AN ERROR IN FINDING A MATERIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES ADVERSELY AFFECTING THE MINOR CHILD TO CHANGE CUSTODY

In a modification proceeding, the non-custodial party must prove: (1) that a substantial change in circumstances has transpired since issuance of the custody decree; (2) that this change adversely affects the child's welfare; and (3) that the child's best interest mandates a change of custody. *Lambert v. Lambert*, 872 So.2d 679,683-84 (¶8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). In making this determination, the totality of circumstances must be considered. *Ash v. Ash*, 622 So.2d 1264, 1266 (Miss. 1993). Even though under the totality of the circumstances a change has occurred, the Court must separately and affirmatively determine that this is one which adversely affects the child. *Lewis v. Lewis*, 974 So.2d 265, 266 (¶13)(Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

The Chancellor in this case found under the totality of the circumstances that a material change in circumstances had occurred adversely affecting Ben because of three reasons. They were:

- 1. "That Ben already spends most nights with his father and stepmother which the Court finds to be a *defacto* change of custody with the mother's consent;
- 2. Melissa's work hours from 6:00 p.m. to 2:00 a.m. which is not a schedule conducive to raising a small child as a single parent;
  - 3. Melissa finding herself 4 months pregnant by a man she began dating six (6) months

ago [;] she...on occasions has allowed Ben to sleep with her and her boyfriend in bed." (CP 61-62) (RE15-16)

### a. <u>Defacto Change in Custody</u>

Incorporated within the Agreed Judgment of Paternity and Order of Child Support and Other Relief dated December 9, 2005, Exhibit 1 (RE 21-25), there is a Visitation Schedule which provided "Other Visitation: "The non-custodial parent may visit at all other reasonable times and places agree to by the parties. The celebration of Benjamin's birthday will be worked out by his parents" (RE 24).

Melissa had been employed with the Pearl River Resort for three years beginning in March 2005 (T.281) as a bartender (T.85) and from February 2006 until two weeks (T.281) before trial her work schedule was from 6:00 p.m. to 2 a.m. in the morning (T.124) five days a week (T.86). While Melissa was working these hours, Megan Howington (the baby sitter), Natalia (Barry's wife) and her mom (Nancy Kubin) took care of Ben (T.86). The reason for working the night schedule was because "I made a little bit more money in tips ...I couldn't rely on the child support to come in every month, so I had to make sure I had an adequate amount of money to provide Ben with the things that he needed (T.124)." To be a cocktail waitress on day shift would be \$2.00 an hour less in pay. (T282). Apparently the baby sitting duties were shared with Barry and his wife Natalia before Natalia and Barry married. During direct examination of Natalia, she was asked

"Q. And during the time that you were dating and first got married to Barry, did you ever have an occasion to keep Ben, to babysit?

- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. Can you recall what that occasion was?
- A. Yes, ma'am.

- Q. What is that?
- A. Barry had to go to work. Melissa was also at work. Barry called Melissa and let her know that I was going to be there with Ben. But I stayed over a Malia's (Barry's sister-in-law) because she was not comfortable with me keeping him because she didn't know anything about me at the time. When she got there to pick him up, we talked for a little while. And [sic] she needed a babysitter the next day. I told her that I would be happy to keep him and if it would make her feel comfortable that I would even stay at my sister-in-law Malia's house so she would feel more comfortably about me keeping Ben.
- Q. Is that what took place?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. From that point on can you describe what your relationship has been with Melissa as far as Ben's care goes. [sic]
- A. Yes, ma'am. Me and Melissa have always been able to work things out. If she had anything that she wanted to object to me about, we discussed it. We always tried to work it out." (T.192-193).( RE 55-56)

Under cross examination, Natalia stated concerning the two years of calendar notations. (Exhibit 3)(RE 71-94).

- "Q. Two years of the calendar and during the time that Ben was with you, you had no objection with Ben?
  - A. No sir.
  - Q. You wanted him to be with you. Is that correct? And with his father. Is that correct?
  - A. Yes sir.
  - Q. And I'm assuming that because of the way you and Melissa were working—you said you worked together to take care of Ben. That was not a big problem. Is that correct?
  - A. No sir.
  - Q. And that this was advantageous for Melissa because she worked at night and it also

gave a chance for your husband Mr. Massey to see his son. Is that correct?

- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And it meant that he could see his son more than the established visitation that was attached to the judgment. Is that correct?
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. So it worked to the benefit of both your husband and Ben's mother, Melissa. Isn't that true?
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. Okay. Everything seemed to work until we get to March 10 of 2008 when the bruises that have been testified about that you observed on Monday the 10<sup>th</sup> on Ben. Is that correct?
- A. Yes sir." (T.208-09)(RE 57-58).

Even Barry admitted that Ben spending a lot of time with him and/or his wife was a satisfactory arrangement. On cross-examination Barry said the following speaking about Exhibit 3.

- "Q. Okay. Let's just take the first page which will be April of 2006. It just says "Ben spent the night." Is that correct?
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. It doesn't say anything about the daytime, does it?
- A. Doesn't say when he left.
- Q. It just says at night, correct?
- A. That's what the calendar says.
- Q. And that's what it is on May 2006, June 2006, July 2006, etc., etc. It just indicates the night. Is that correct?
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. And during this entire time, Melissa was working at night. Isn't that true?

- A. That's right.
- Q. That was a satisfactory arrangement for you and satisfactory arrangement for Melissa. Isn't that true?
- A. That's right. "(T.245-46)(RE 59-60).

Barry stated when questioned by the Court:

- "Q. And I take it until the incident on the weekend of March 8<sup>th</sup> and 9<sup>th</sup>, until that weekend y'all had pretty well worked this [night visitation] out between yourselves, hadn't you?
- A. Pretty much. We did up until Melissa filed charges against me...the end of 07" (T.249)

Under further cross-examination Barry stated:

- Q. "I understand that had indicated, Mr. Massey, that you and Melissa were able to pretty well work things out exchanging Ben until sometime in late 2007?
- A. That's right.
- Q. And even after that, you and she still worked things out as to where the exchange of Ben would take place. Is that correct?
- A. Her and my wife would pretty much do that after that.
- Q. All right. You delegated authority to her.
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. And it was acceptable to you for Melissa to work with your wife to exchange Ben. Is that correct?
- A. Yes sir. "(T.252)(RE 61)

The Guardian Ad Litem in his report to the Court concerning the conflict that developed after

March 10, 2008 stated in his report:

"Out of the saddest things about this case is that before all this happened...everyone got along for the most part. There was a great spirit of cooperation in raising and caring for Ben. Melissa and Barry got along and Melissa placed a great deal of trust in Natalia and Malia and other Massey family members. Likewise Barry thinks very highly of Melissa's babysitter Megan. The natural parents had some very difficult working hours, but there was always someone who was happy to keep Ben. I am not sure that the parties can get back to that, and that is truly a shame for Ben"(CP 51)(RE 42)

When questioned by Melissa's attorney, the Guardian Ad Litem (GAL) stated:

"Q. And so up until we get to this one incident, the parents and the families of the parents were managing to cooperate and deal in the best interest of Ben. Is that correct?"

A. Yes'. (T.271)

Ben as:

When asked under direct examination, the Guardian Ad Litem described his observation of

"Ben's a great kid. He has a lot of fun. He came in and wanted to-very inquisitive about things going on in the office and very friendly. I was talking to his grandmother at the time, Nancy, and he came around to where I was and was kind of drawing on my papers. They were his papers actually, so I didn't mind. He was very friendly and outgoing." (T259-60).

He further stated that he found no material change of circumstances adverse to Ben from December 2005 to March 10, 2008 although he added that he was not looking for a change in circumstances he was just to determine what was in Ben's best interest (T.266-67).

No witness testified nor any document introduced into evidence concluded that the time sharing arrangements between Melissa and Barry had in fact been a *defacto* change of custody. No case law in this State has been found that finds such time sharing arrangement indicates a *defacto* change of custody. The only case that addresses a situation somewhat analogous as to this case is *Sorenson v. May*, 944 P.2d 429 (Wyo. 1997) wherein the husband, Sorenson, and ex-wife, May, were granted joint custody of their two children with physical custody to be with each parent six months out of every year, and each parent waived paying child support. Because the children were in school at the time of the divorce, they stayed with Sorenson after his six months to prevent them from being

moved to a different city and school where May lived. Sorenson, approximately 18 months after the divorce, filed a petition to modify custody to be the sole custodial parent because the children were not spending one-half of the year with May as the divorce decree contemplated. The lower court denied Sorenson's Petition finding no material change in circumstances wherein the trial judge found:

- "...[I]t appears that the best interest of the children ha[s] been admirably served all along here. I don't see where it would be in their best interest to do any change, because thanks to the very mature and responsible way these two parents have acted vis-a-vis their daughter, it appears to me it wouldn't necessarily be in her best interest for any change of custody, nor would it be at any time because she was enjoying a relationship with her father and her mother, which is one of the chief goals in any custody and visitation situation."
- "...[I]t occurs to me that [the father] and [the mother] have acted in a very admirable and honorable fashion here, contrary to the situation that one sees in the District Court too often..." *Id.* at ¶431.

The Wyoming Supreme Court affirmed the denial of the Petition to change custody and commended the parties to continue to work together for the best interest of their children. *Id.* at ¶433.

The Guardian Ad Litem is the case subjudice found basically the same environment of cooperation as stated *supra*.

The lower court was in error to find this factor was an adverse effect.

b. The mother's work hours from 6:00 p.m. to 2:00 a.m. which was not a schedule conducive to raising a small child as a single parent.

Melissa worked as a bartender on the night shift because she earned \$2.00 per hour more than being a cocktail waitress on the day shift (T.282). Also she could not rely on getting child support each month (T.124) because Barry failed to pay his Court ordered child support the arrearage amounted to \$2,618.75 as of March 31, 2008 (CP 5-7) which the Guardian Ad Litem expressed surprise when questioned about his report.

- "Q. I think you had also indicated that you were somewhat surprised that he [Barry] was something over \$2,600.00 behind in child support. Is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And, apparently, he had done this in a unilateral manner. He just stopped paying child support. Is that correct?
- A. Right. I understood his reasoning that he felt he had Ben. But as you know, the proper remedy is to come back to Court or seek to get your child support cut off.
- Q. And he had not done that?
- A. That I know of, no.
- Q. And according to the Court file, there apparently has been where there's been an adjudication, and he agreed that he was some \$2,600.00 in debt on back child support. Is that correct?
- A. That is correct." (T.265-66)(RE 62-63)

Since the Agreed Judgment required Barry to pay \$352.00 per month as child support (Exhibit 1) the arrearage amounted to him being over 7 months in child support behind. It is difficult to understand how the Court can reconcile its finding that Melissa's work schedule somehow adversely impacts Ben when Barry is materially in arrears in his support payments. Child custody is a matter of equity which requires more than the votes in favor of the mother or father. *Bailey v. Jones*, 949 So.2d 802, 804-05 (¶10)(Miss. Ct. App. 2006) "He who comes into equity must come with clean hands." Griffith Mississippi Chancery Practice, Section 42 (2d Ed. 1950). In the case of *Mixon v. Sharp*, 853 So.2d 834 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003), decided by this Court with facts very analogous to the case *subjudice*, the father was the initial custodial parent when two years later the mother filed her Motion [sic] for Modification wherein the mother [Sharp] was granted custody by the lower court finding in part because the father's

"[Mixon]'s work schedule is not conducive to his providing primary care for Amber...Mixon did not change his schedule until after he remarried. Until then, he worked day so that he would be able to take care of Amber when she was home from school. We are not aware of any Mississippi cases that directly apply to this case, but guidance may be gained by looking to the case law of other jurisdictions" *Id.* 389 (¶11).

Finding no cases in Mississippi on point, the Court reviewed cases from Alabama, Kansas and Missouri for that guidance.

In the Alabama case, *Davis v. Davis*, 451 So.2d 316,319 (Ala. Civ. App. 1984) the affirmed the change of custody from the custodial parent when that parent began working at night and there was no safe and suitable supervision for the child. *Id.* ¶12.

The Missouri case of *In Re: Marriage of Whipp*, 962 P.2d 1058 (Kan. 1998) affirmed the change of custody by the trial court because of the father working at night and the 4 year old child was no longer supervised by McGowan, with whom the child had built a close relationship *Id*. at 1063-64.

A Missouri case that was particularly relevant to this Court was *Henderson v. Henderson*, 622 S.W. 2d 7 (Mo. Ct. App. 1981) wherein the Missouri Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's change of custody from the mother to the father because she worked at night. The Appellant Court found that:

"There was no substantial evidence that the mother was an unfit custodian nor that the arrangements made for the children while she worked at night were unsatisfactory. Mother's election to work at night, thereby earning fifteen (15) percent more income, was not a sufficient change to rebut the presumption that mother, as custodial parent, remained suitable (cite omitted)" *Id.* at 10 (¶12).

Mixon found "This case suggests that as long as the child is safe and supervised while the parent must be at work, a change in a work schedule is not a material change in circumstances. That is this Court's holding as well" *Id.* 838 ¶15 and "Finding no material change in circumstances, we

hold it was clear error for the chancellor to change custody of Amber." *Id.* at ¶17 and reversed and rendered. *Id.* ¶33.

The testimony as shown in section "a" above is very close to the Henderson facts.

The lower court was in error to find this factor was an adverse effect

c. Melissa finding herself 4 months pregnant by a man she began dating six (6) months ago[:] she...on occasions has allowed Ben to sleep with her and her boyfriend in bed.

The Chancellor questioned Melissa concerning some findings in the Guardian Ad Litem's report, namely:

- "Q. There's also some evidence in this Guardian Ad Litem [sic] report that Ben sometimes has slept in the same bed with you and Jerry [Melissa's fiancé]. Is that correct?
- A. Maybe one or two times at most.
- Q. Okay. So Jerry has spent the night with you on occasions when Ben was there?
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. And sometimes even slept in the bed with you and Ben?
- A. Ben came and got in the bed with us one time that I can remember" (T.122-23)

Under direct examination Melissa admitted that she was engaged to Jerry Bailey (T.90) and that at trial time she was four (4) months pregnant (T.91). What was interesting in the Chancellor's finding of adverse affect that was he didn't mention that Ben was sleeping with his father and his stepmother. Malia Massey, Barry's sister-in-law, under cross examination, said:

- "Q. I think that when you spoke to the Guardian Ad Litem that you had indicated that Ben usually sleep with his father. Is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Is that true?

- A. Yeah, a lot of the times. You know that's what I've been told.
- Q. That's what you've been told by your brother-in-law. Is that correct?
- A. Right." (T.175)(RE 64)

Further the Guardian Ad Litem stated under cross examination on the subject of Ben sleeping with his parents:

- "Q. Okay. Now, I think that you were asked a question concerning the sleeping arrangements with Ben and Melissa and Jerry. You also received information and it was confirmed from the stand that Ben sleeps with his father and his wife. Is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. On a regular basis. Is that correct?
- A. Yes." (T.264-65)(RE 65-66).

Further, it was testified that Barry was dating his present wife three (3) months prior to her divorce from her former husband and married him within two weeks of her divorce (T.206-07).

In the case of *Sudduth v. Mowdy*, NO. 2007-CA-00575 COA September 30, 2008 (mandate issued October 21, 2008), this Court affirmed a Chancellor's denial of a request for modification of "..custody of a 6/7 year old girl even though the mother, the custodial parent, was alleged that she was not promptly caring for the child's teeth, that the mother had numerous inappropriate relationships and that the mother had given the child a powerful anti-psychotic drug. *Id.* ¶9 and 11. This Court stated "In regard to Melissa's relationship history, it is well established that 'the relationship or indiscretions of the mother are never enough by themselves to constitute a material change in circumstances' *Forsythe v. Akers*, 768 So.2d 943,947 (¶11)(Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Kavanaugh v. Carraway*, 435 So.2d 697, 700 (Miss. 1983))" *Id.* ¶14.

"Even though under the totality of the circumstances a change has occurred, the Court *must* [emphasis added] separately and affirmatively determine that this change is one which adversely affects the children" *Lewis* at 267 ¶13. In *Ballard v. Ballard*, 434 So.2d 1357 (Miss. 1983), Justice Hawkins reminds us that a change in custody is a "jolting, traumatic experience. It is only that "...behavior which clearly posits or causes danger to the mental or emotional well-being of a child

(whether such behavior is immoral or not), which is sufficient basis to seriously consider the drastic action of changing custody." *Id.* 1360.

In Giannaris v. Giannaris, 960 So.2d 462 (Miss. 2007) the Court stated:

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