IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-01253

MELISSA ANN BETTS
APPELLANT

V.

CHALMUS BARRY MASSEY
APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT
OF NESHOPA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2005-323
HONORABLE EDWARD C. FENWICK

BRIEF OF APPELLEE
CHALMUS BARRY MASSEY

ORAL AGRUMENT NOT REQUESTED

TANYA L. PHILLIPS 
THE LOGAN LAW FIRM, P.A.
Post Office Box 218
Newton, Mississippi 39345
Telephone: (601) 683-7888
Facsimile: (601) 683-3885
Attorneys for Appellee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MELISSA ANN BETTS

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-01253

CHALMUS BARRY MASSEY

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. Nature of the case.

Chalmus Barry ("Barry") Massey, Appellee, asks this Honorable Court to affirm the decision of the Chancery Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi, in Cause No. 2005-323, a case for modification of custody of the minor child, Benjamin Lee Massey, as filed by Defendant Barry Massey and as also filed in an opposing pleading by the custodial parent, Melissa ("Melissa") Ann Betts, Appellant.

b. Disposition of the case.

The litigation began with the filing of Melissa's *Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus* in Cause No. 2008-148. The Writ was entered and filed on April 10, 2008. (Rec. Pg. 8-9). The Court consolidated the matter of the Writ with prior cause No. 2005-323. (Rec. Pg. 58). Melissa filed a *Complaint to Cite Respondent for Contempt and Other Relief* on April 3, 2008, against Barry citing his failure to pay child support and his failure to return the child to her. (Rec. Pg.1-2). Melissa also alleged a material change of circumstances and requested a change from joint legal custody to sole legal custody. (Rec. Pg. 2). These parties were never married but their relationship produced the subject child, Benjamin Lee Massey, born September 8, 2004. *Id.* The

parties had entered into a voluntary custody, visitation and child support agreement in Cause No. 2005-323 when the child was an infant. (Rec. Pg.5-7). Just prior to Melissa filing her Complaint, the Chancellor had ordered the Department of Human Services of Neshoba County to take physical and legal custody of the minor child due to physical evidence of child abuse and allegations of child abuse alleged by both Barry and Melissa. (Rec. Pg. 8). Barry filed a *Motion for Temporary Custody and Motion for Appointment of Guardian Ad Litem* on April 11, 2008. (Rec. Pg. 10-13). Barry filed an *Answer and Defenses to Complaint to Cite Respondent for Contempt and Other Relief and Counter-Complaint for Custody and Child Support* on April 25, 2008. (Rec. Pg. 15-21). The Court entered an Order appointing Honorable D. Joseph Kilgore guardian ad litem. (Rec. Pg. 22-23). Matters concerning Barry's child support were handled by DHS and Judgment approving a stipulated agreement with Barry was entered on May 2, 2008. (Rec. Pg. 24). The guardian ad litem submitted a preliminary report on June 2, 2008. (Rec. Pg. 36-54). Trial on the merits was held on June 2, 2008, and concluded on June 4, 2008. The Court entered its opinion and ruling on June 10, 2008, (Rec. Pg. 57-66), and a Final Judgment was filed in accordance with the Judge's ruling on July 2, 2008. (Rec. Pg. 67-71). Aggrieved with the Chancellor's decision, Melissa filed her *Notice of Appeal* on July 18, 2008. (Rec. Pg. 72-73).

c. Facts.

Barry Massey is the natural father of Benjamin ("Ben") Lee Massey, age 3 at the time of trial. Barry and Melissa were never married but had entered into a voluntary judgment establishing paternity, custody and child support. (Rec. Pg. 67). Litigation began in March 2005 when it was discovered Ben had severe bruises and marks on his buttocks. (Rec. Pg. 58). During the course of litigation and at trial, it was determined Ben had suffered physical abuse in or around the weekend of March 8-10, 2008. (Rec. Pg. 58, 145). On Friday, March 7 through

Saturday March 8, Ben had been with his father, who took him camping with his uncle and cousins. (Trans. Pg. 227-228). Barry returned Ben to his mother on Saturday, March 8, 2008, between 7:30 – 8:00 a.m. (Trans. Pg. 228). On Saturday afternoon, March 8, Barry's wife, Natalia, picked up Ben from Melissa to keep him overnight from Saturday to Sunday morning while Melissa worked the night shift at the Silver Star Casino in Philadelphia. (Trans. Pg. 199, 229). Ben stayed with Natalia at their home until the early morning hours of Sunday, March 9, when she contacted Melissa to pick up Ben. (Trans. Pg. 199-200). Natalia was working as a certified nursing assistant at Choctaw Residential Center in Philadelphia and was scheduled to go to work on Sunday, March 9, at 7:00 a.m. (Trans. Pg. 187, 200). Ben went home with his mother between 3:30 a.m. – 4:00 a.m. because he had woken up about 1:00 a.m. and would not go back to sleep. (Trans. Pg. 95, 200-201). Ben remained with Melissa from 4:00 a.m. until 9:00 a.m. when she took Ben to the home of his aunt and uncle, Malia and Craig Massey. (Trans. Pg. 95-96). Melissa's babysitter, Megan Howington, picked up Ben from the Masseys Sunday afternoon approximately 2:30 – 3:00 p.m. (Trans. Pg. 96). Melissa testified she and her boyfriend at the time, now husband, Jerry Bailey, attended a wedding on Sunday. (Trans. Pg. 95-96). Melissa and Jerry returned home Sunday evening between 6:30- 7:00 p.m. (Trans. Pg. 110-111). Melissa testified her boyfriend discovered the bruises on Ben around 10:00 p.m. Sunday, March 9. (Trans. Pg. 94). She stated it was late when she looked at him and was tired and would take him to the pediatrician the next morning because emergency room personnel were not equipped to handle child abuse cases. (Trans. Pg. 94). Melissa testified she examined Ben on the morning of Monday, March 10, and was alarmed by what she see saw and immediately left her home to take Ben to his pediatrician, Dr. Melody Byram. (Trans. Pg. 96-97). Melissa also contacted her mother, Nancy Kubin, who was working as a nurse practitioner at Laird Hospital in Union. (*Id.*).

After Melissa met her mother, they drove together to Dr. Byram's office in Union. (*Id.*). Also present at Dr. Byram's office was Natalia Massey and her two sons. (Trans. Pg. 201-202). Barry Massey was in California at the time the bruises were discovered; however, Melissa called Barry to inform him of the situation. (Trans. Pg. 230). Melissa, Ben, Nancy, Natalia and her sons, ate lunch together in Philadelphia after the meeting at Dr. Byram's office. (Trans. Pg. 97). They all then traveled to the Philadelphia Police Department to file a report. (*Id.*). Ben remained with his mother for three (3) days until Barry returned home from California on Friday, March 14, when at that time, Melissa allowed Barry to take Ben for weekend visitation. (*Id.*). Barry reported to DHS for an interview when he returned from California on March 14. (Trans. Pg. 232). Ben was scheduled for a forensic interview, which Barry took him to on March 17. (Trans. Pg. 99.). Barry did not return Ben to Melissa on March 17 upon the advice of the police department. Ben was returned upon the hearing on the writ of habeus corpus on March 25, 2008, but the Court ordered the child to be put in the immediate custody of DHS. (Rec. Pg. 58). The child was temporarily placed with foster-parent, Judy Ward, until DHS determined the home of his grandmother, Nancy, was suitable for family placement. (Trans. Pg. 15).

At trial Dr. Byram testified the child was physically abused with force. (Trans. Pg. 139-141). Dr. Byram identified handprints and petechial hemorrhaging in the photographs she took of the child's injuries on March 10, 2008. (Trans. Pg. 138-139). DHS determined there was substantial evidence of physical abuse but no conclusive evidence as to the identity of the abuser. (Rec. Pg. 59). The testimony of Carrie Cumberland, licensed social worker for DHS, showed Barry, Natalia, Melissa and her boyfriend, Jerry, complied with components of their individual DHS service agreements, which included completion of parenting classes and supervised visitation. (Trans. Pg. 24). Both parents' homes were adequate for the child, but DHS

recommended Barry have custody of the child due to stability in his home, including working hours, and the child's extreme emotional attachment to his father. (*Id.*). Ms. Cumberland also testified Melissa exhibited more concern about her perceived lack of fairness in the investigation- it being slanted against her- and was less concerned about Ben's overall welfare. (Trans. Pg. 19-20). Melissa's witnesses, her babysitter, Megan Howington, her brother Bryant Betts and her mother, Nancy, testified the child was with his mother the majority of the time. (Rec. Pg. 59). Barry and Natalia testified Ben spent the majority of his time with them, because Melissa worked five (5) nights a week on the late shift at the Silver Star Casino, and she only saw Ben on her days off. (Rec. Pg. 59-61; Trans. Pg. 164-165,193-197; and Appellant's Rec. Exc. Pgs. 71-94). The guardian ad litem, D. Joseph Kilgore, conducted an independent investigation and determined it was in Ben's best interest to be placed with his father for a number of reasons, those being (a) a stable atmosphere in Barry's home; (b) Melissa's successive relationships with men, wherein at the time of trial she was four (4) months pregnant by Jerry Bailey and not married; (c) Melissa's working hours not being conducive to raising a child; (d) Melissa's general lack of concern about Ben; and (e) the substantially close relationship between Ben and his father, in addition to the overall concern about the incidence of physical abuse. (Rec. Pg. 60; Trans. Pg. 259-260). After two days of hearing the parties' witnesses, the Court entered its opinion and ruling modifying custody in favor of Barry Massey, and setting visitation and child support payments for Melissa. (Rec. Pg. 61-66).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT(S)

The Chancellor rightly modified the original custody decree in favor of Barry Massey. In so doing, the Chancellor applied the legal standard in modification cases, that being a showing by a preponderance of the evidence there has been a material change in circumstances adversely affecting the welfare of the child which came about in the custodial home since the time of the entry of the original decree establishing custody. If the Chancellor, as in this case, found an adverse change in circumstances, he must further determine whether a change in custody is in the best interest of the child and in so doing, he must weigh those factors in light of the totality of the circumstances. In two days of trial, the Chancellor took testimony from several key witnesses, and in weighing the testimony and credibility of those witnesses and the evidence submitted, including the investigations developed by DHS and the guardian ad litem, the Chancellor found an adverse change in circumstances had occurred, the triggering event being the physical abuse of Ben. With the parties submitting to investigations by DHS and the guardian ad litem, the door was opened to reveal there were other events occurring in Ben's life to cause the Court to find modification necessary. Looking at the totality of the circumstances surrounding the child, the Court found there had been a *de facto* change in custody as Ben spent most nights in the home of his father and stepmother, than at his mother's house, with his mother's consent; Melissa's late night work hours were not conducive to raising a small child; Just days prior to trial, she obtained a daytime work schedule and attempted to marry her boyfriend; Melissa, who was four months pregnant and not married, testified Ben had been allowed to sleep in the bed with her and the boyfriend; and the overall fact that Ben had been physically abused.

Once the Court found there had been a material change adverse to Ben in his mother's home, the Chancellor applied the *Albright* factors to determine the best interest of Ben, whether

to modify custody in favor of Barry, or to modify the joint legal status in favor of sole custody to Melissa. The Court found custody should be modified in favor of Barry because: (a) Melissa's late night work schedule was a detriment to raising a young child and caused her to be overly-dependent on babysitters; (b) strong emotional ties between father and son; (c) Melissa demonstrated poor moral character in allowing Ben to sleep in the same bed with her and the boyfriend; and (e) stability of the father's home environment.

ARGUMENT(S) AND AUTHORITIES

The modification of custody in favor of the non-custodial parent should be affirmed, as there was an agreed material change in circumstances adversely affecting the minor giving the Court a green light to conduct an *Albright* analysis for modification.

To effect a modification of custody, it is well-established there must be proof that clearly establishes a material change of circumstances, since the entry of the decree sought to be modified, in the custodial home, adverse to the child, and the child's best interest requires a change of custody be made. *Miss. Divorce, Alim. And Child Custody*, § 18:5 (6th ed.)(citing *Cavett v. Cavett*, 744 So.2d 372 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999), *McCracking v. McCracking*, 776 So.2d 691 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)). The movant must make his showing by a preponderance of the evidence. *Staggs v. Staggs*, 919 So. 2d 112 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); *Glissen v. Glissen*, 910 So.2d 603 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). The material change must have occurred in the custodial home. *Mabus v. Mabus*, 847 So.2d 815 (Miss. 2003). All events that have occurred since the issuance of the decree sought to be modified may be considered by the Chancellor. *Savell v. Morrison*, 929 So.2d 414. 417 (Miss. 2006).

The triggering event in this case was the physical abuse inflicted upon Ben between March 8-10, 2008. The Court found Barry and Melissa had agreed there was a material change in

circumstances adverse to their child, but disagreed as to the application of the best interest test. When there is a stipulation as to the change of circumstances, no evidence of such is required, and it is proper for the court to move to the next step of consideration of the *Albright* factors. *Harper v. Harper*, 926 So. 2d 253, 255 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Remarriage of the custodial parent will not by itself justify a change in custody, *Wright v. Stanley*, 700 So.2d 274 (Miss. 1997), nor will indiscretions of the custodial parent, standing alone, *Smith v. Jones*, 654 So. 2d 480 (Miss. 1995). It is insufficient for a non-custodial parent to show, given the opportunity, he could do a better job with the children. *McCracking v. McCracking*, 776 So. 2d 691 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). However, in cases where the child's health and welfare are truly at risk, there is no rigid test to prevent a chancellor from improving a child's welfare through a modification of custody. *Savell v. Morrison*, 929 So.2d 414 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)(citing *Riley v. Doerner*, 677 So.2d 740 (Miss. 1996)). When the environment provided by the custodial parent is found to be adverse to the child's best interest, and the circumstances of the non-custodial parent have changed such that he is able to provide an environment more suitable than that of the custodial parent, the chancellor may modify custody accordingly. *Glissen v. Glissen*, 910 So. 2d 603 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005), *Riley*, 677 So. 2d at 745. The polestar consideration is the well-being of the child. *Sellers v. Sellers*, 638 So.2d 481 (Miss. 1994). A chancellor's hands should not be shackled by a minor child's resilience to harm or ability to remain unscathed despite living in an adverse home environment. *Riley*, 677 So.2d 744.

All aspects of the lives of these parties and Ben, since the entry of the original custody order, were well within the Chancellor's "sphere of consideration" when he determined there had been a material change of circumstances. The Chancellor found there had been a *de facto* change in custody from Melissa to Barry as evidenced by the conduct of the parties. The

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